# 2024 Candidate Petition Handbook



Florida Department of State Division of Elections R. A. Gray Building, Room 316 500 South Bronough Street Tallahassee, FL 32399-0250 850.245.6280

(June 14, 2023)

# **Table of Contents**

Chapter 1: Introduction
Chapter 2: Forms
Chapter 3: Collecting Signatures
Chapter 4: Verifying Petitions7
Chapter 5: Fees and Undue Burden Oath 13
Chapter 6: Certification to the Division of Elections15
Appendix A: Table - 2024 Petition Signatures Required for Representative in Congress 19
Appendix B: Table - 2024 Petition Signatures Required for State Senate
Appendix C: Table - 2024 Petition Signatures Required for State Representative
Appendix D: Table - 2024 Petition Signatures Required for Circuit Court Judge, State Attorney and Public Defender
Appendix E: DS-DE 9 Appointment of Campaign Treasurer and Designation of Campaign Depository for Candidates
Appendix F: DS-DE 19A Affidavit of Undue Burden – Candidate 25
Appendix G: DS-DE 104 Candidate Petition Form
Appendix H: DS-DE 18A President and Vice President Candidate Petition, No Party Affiliation and DS-DE 18B President and Vice President Candidate Petition, Minor Political Party 27
Appendix I: Legal References and Rules Cited

### **Chapter 1: Introduction**

This handbook explains the process for collecting signatures to qualify as a candidate by petition method. Information herein applies only to candidate petitions. It does not apply to initiative petitions.

To the extent that this handbook covers material beyond that contained in law or rule, the Florida Department of State, Division of Elections offers such material to candidates merely as guidelines. This handbook is not a substitute for the Florida Election Code or applicable constitutional and rule provisions, the text of which controls.

The following statutes and rules should be reviewed in their entirety:

- <u>99.095</u> Petition process in lieu of a qualifying fee and party assessment.
- <u>99.09651</u> Signature requirements for ballot position in year of apportionment.
- <u>99.097</u> Verification of signatures on petitions.
- <u>100.371</u> Initiatives; procedure for placement on ballot.
- <u>104.31</u> Political activities of state, county, and municipal officers and employees.
- <u>104.185</u> Petitions; knowingly signing more than once; signing another person's name or a fictitious name.
- <u>106.011</u> Definitions.
- <u>106.15</u> Certain acts prohibited.
- <u>103.021</u> Nomination for Presidential Electors
- Rule <u>1S-2.045</u>, Florida Administrative Code

(See <u>Appendix I</u>)

The latest versions of all applicable forms and publications are publicly available on the Division of Elections' website at: <u>dos.myflorida.com/elections/forms-publications</u>.

Please direct questions to the Bureau of Election Records help desk at **850.245.6280 or ElecRecords@Dos.myflorida.com**.

# **Chapter 2: Forms**

### What petition form should be used to obtain signatures from registered voters?

All candidates must use the most current version of the applicable petition form as adopted in rule:

- Form <u>DS-DE 104</u>, Candidate Petition Form<sup>1</sup>
- Form <u>DS-DE 18A</u>, President and Vice President Candidate Petition, No Party Affiliation
- Form <u>DS-DE 18B</u>, President and Vice President Candidate Petition, Minor Political Party.

The most current versions of <u>petition forms</u> are available on the Division of Elections' website. Petitions signed on older versions of the applicable petition form are <u>not</u> valid.

A separate petition is required for each candidate.

### Who is responsible for reproducing the petition form?

Candidates are responsible for reproducing the petition form.

#### Can the petition form be altered?

Candidate petition forms must be reproduced as is without any change to text or format with the following limited exceptions:

- Candidate petition forms may be reduced or enlarged proportionally in size as a whole document. However, the form cannot be less than 3 inches by 5 inches and no larger than 8 1/2 inches by 11 inches.
- Candidate petition forms may be included within a larger advertisement, provided the form is clearly defined by a solid or broken border.
- Candidates may use color highlights, circles, X's, arrows, or similar markings that draw attention to items on the petition form, as well as using cross-outs, line-throughs, or similar markings on items on the form that are not applicable to their candidacy.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Municipal candidates may use a different form if provided for by city charter or ordinance.

 Candidates may translate petition forms into a minority language at their own expense. Petition forms may be two-sided with English on one side and a minority language on the other. However, the double-sided petition may be signed by only one person. If both sides of the form are completed, the Supervisor of Elections will check only the English side of the form for signature verification.

#### Is a disclaimer required on a petition?

No. A petition is not a political advertisement as defined in Section <u>106.011</u>, Florida Statutes, as it does not expressly advocate the election of a candidate. However, if a candidate petition is included as a part of a larger advertisement that does meet the definition of a political advertisement, the <u>political advertisement</u> will need a disclaimer. While a missing disclaimer on such advertisement does not invalidate an otherwise properly executed petition, it would constitute a violation of <u>Chapter 106</u>, Florida Statutes.

# **Chapter 3: Collecting Signatures**

#### How many signatures are needed?

Except for special district candidates, the requirement is to obtain signatures equal to 1% of the registered voters in the geographical area of candidacy for the immediately preceding general election.

- President of the United States 145,040 signatures
- United States Senator 145,040 signatures
- Representative in Congress (see Appendix A)
- State Senator (see <u>Appendix B</u>)
- State Representative (see <u>Appendix C</u>)
- Circuit Court Judge, State Attorney (1<sup>st</sup> through 19<sup>th</sup> Circuits) and Public Defender (1<sup>st</sup> through 19<sup>th</sup> Circuit) (see <u>Appendix D</u>)
- Special District Candidate 25 signatures

For candidates for county, district, or special district office not listed, the supervisor shall determine whether the required number of signatures has been obtained and shall notify the candidate.

#### When can a candidate start collecting signatures on petitions?

A candidate can collect signatures after a completed **Form <u>DS-DE 9</u>**, Appointment of Campaign Treasurer and Designation of Campaign Depository, is filed with the filing officer (*see <u>Appendix</u>* <u>E</u>) but not until after the last qualifying period. The following candidates are not required to file **Form DS-DE 9**:

- Special district candidates if they do not collect contributions or make expenditures other than the filing fee or signature verification fee.
- Federal candidates.

#### How long are signed petitions valid?

Signatures for all candidates are valid only for the next general election qualifying period for that office immediately following the filing of the **Form <u>DS-DE 9</u>**. If the normal term of office ends early as the result of a resignation, death, or other reason, petitions verified prior to an off-cycle election qualifying period remain valid for the same office in the earlier election.

#### Example 1:

Candidate A is a 2024 State Representative candidate. The candidate may not begin collecting signatures until <u>after</u> the 2022 qualifying period.

#### Example 2:

Candidate B is a 2024 State Representative candidate. In December of 2023, a special election is called for this office. Candidate B may transfer their petitions to the special election or, if they elect not to participate in the special election, keep them for the 2024 election.

#### Example 3:

Candidate C is a 2024 State Representative candidate. In December of 2023, a special election is called for this office. Candidate C wants to qualify for the special election but does <u>not</u> want to transfer the `petitions already signed to the special election. Candidate C may accomplish this by filing a new **Form <u>DS-DE 9</u>** and opening an entirely separate campaign depository for the special election. Candidate C must start anew with contributions and petition gathering for the special election while maintaining the former campaign account for the general election. Candidate C may not use the funds or petitions previously collected for the special election. And candidate C may not use the funds or petitions gathered in the special election for the subsequent general election.

#### Example 4:

Candidate D is a 2026 County Commission candidate. The incumbent for that office resigns to run for another office. The office will now appear on the 2024 ballot for a term to end in 2026. Candidate D may transfer their petitions to the 2024 election or keep them for the 2026 election. However, to retain the petitions for the 2024 election, Candidate D must open a separate campaign account for the 2024 election.

#### Where can candidates collect signatures on petitions?

The Election Code does not govern where signatures can be collected. The candidate should check with the property owner.

#### Can a candidate pay someone to collect petitions?

Yes. Nothing in the Election Code prohibits a candidate from paying any person to collect petitions. See <u>Chapter 5: Fees and Undue Burden Oath</u> for information on what happens when an undue burden oath is filed.

# May a voter revoke their signature on a petition after receipt of the petition by the Supervisor of Elections?

No authority exists for a voter who has signed a petition to revoke their signature after it has been received by the Supervisor of Elections. (See Rule 15-2.045(4)(d), Florida Administrative Code.)

# **Chapter 4: Verifying Petitions**

#### Where are petitions submitted?

Signed petition forms are submitted for verification to the Supervisor of Elections<u>https://dos.myflorida.com/elections/contacts/supervisor-of-elections/</u> in the <u>county in</u> <u>which the voter is registered</u>.

The candidate is responsible for filing the signed petition form with the Supervisor of Elections of the county in which the signer is a registered voter. In the case of a misfiled petition, <u>the filing date of the petition is the date such petition is filed with the proper county</u>. The Supervisor of Elections will notify the candidate if a petition has been misfiled, and return the petition to the candidate so that it can be properly refiled.

#### When is the deadline for submitting petitions to the Supervisor of Elections?

No later than noon on:

- March 25, 2024 United States Senator, Representative in Congress, Circuit Court Judge, State Attorney (Judicial Circuits 1 – 19) and Public Defender (Judicial Circuits 1 – 19)
- <u>May 13, 2024</u> State Senate, State Representative, County, School Board, and Special District
- July 15, 2024 President of the United States

#### Is this petition valid?

- ... if the petition is signed and dated before the filing date of Form <u>DS-DE 9</u>? For candidates required to file Form DS-DE 9, a petition signed and dated before the filing date of Form <u>DS-DE 9</u> is invalid. Form <u>DS-DE 9</u> is not valid until filed (received) and determined to be complete by the qualifying officer.
- ... if the petition is missing a required group, seat or district designation? If a candidate is running for an office that requires a group, seat or district designation, the petition must contain the designation or it is invalid.

#### ... if a candidate changes the office that they are running for?

If a candidate changes the office they are running for, any previously submitted petitions are not valid for the new office. A change in office includes a change in seat, group or district.

#### Example:

Changing from County Commissioner, Seat 1 to County Commissioner, Seat 5 will invalidate all previously verified petitions.

#### Example:

Changing from Circuit Court Judge, 17th Judicial Circuit, Group 1, to 17th Judicial Circuit, Group 5, will invalidate all previously verified petitions.

#### ... if a candidate changes election years?

If a candidate changes from the 2024 election to the 2026 election, the petitions verified for the 2024 qualifying period will <u>not</u> be valid for the 2026 election.

#### ... if a candidate changes to an intervening special election?

If a candidate changes from a regularly scheduled election to an earlier, intervening special election being held for that office, the petitions verified for the regular election <u>are</u> valid for the special election.

#### ... if a candidate elects not to participate in an intervening special election?

If there is an earlier, intervening special election and the candidate decides not to participate in the special election, any petitions verified prior to the special election will remain valid for the regularly scheduled election.

# ... if a candidate's party affiliation on the petition is not the same as the party affiliation listed on the candidate's Form <u>DS-DE 9</u>?

The party affiliation listed on the petition must match the party affiliation listed on **Form** <u>DS-DE 9</u>, or if NPA is listed on the petition, the **Form** <u>DS-DE 9</u> must indicate NPA. If they do not match, the petition is invalid.

**ATTENTION:** Party Affiliation - Florida law (s. 99.021, Florida Statutes) requires a person seeking nomination as a candidate of a political party to be a member of that political party for the 365 days BEFORE the beginning of the applicable qualifying period. Additionally, the law requires a person seeking to qualify for office as a candidate with no party affiliation to not be a member of any political party for the 365 days BEFORE the beginning of the second days BEFORE the beginning of the second days BEFORE the beginning to the second date with no party affiliation to not be a member of any political party for the 365 days BEFORE the beginning of the

applicable qualifying period.

#### Example 1 – Invalid Petition:

Candidate A files **Form <u>DS-DE 9</u>** indicating they are running as a Republican candidate. Their petition forms also indicate that they are running as a Republican candidate. After submitting a number of petitions for verification, Candidate A submits a new **Form <u>DS-DE 9</u>** indicating they are running as a Democratic candidate. All previously verified petitions will not be eligible for qualifying as a Democratic candidate. (See above – Attention: Party Affiliation.)

#### Example 2 – Valid Petition:

Candidate B files **Form <u>DS-DE 9</u>** indicating they are running as a Republican candidate. Their petition forms also indicate they are running as a Republican candidate. Candidate B's voter registration party affiliation is Democrat. After submitting a number of petitions for verification, Candidate B changes their voter registration party affiliation to Republican. All petitions verified prior to Candidate B's change in voter registration remain valid. (See above – Attention: Party Affiliation.)

#### Example 3 – Valid Petition:

Candidate C circulates petitions as an NPA candidate and is registered as a voter with party affiliation. As long as **Form** <u>DS-DE 9</u> indicates that the candidate is running with no party affiliation, the petitions are valid. (See above – Attention: Party Affiliation.)

#### Example 4 – Invalid Petition:

Candidate D files **Form** <u>DS-DE 9</u> indicating they are running as a Republican candidate. After they have begun collecting signatures, the candidate files a new **Form** <u>DS-DE 9</u> changing from a Republican candidate to an NPA candidate. The petitions indicating the candidate is a Republican candidate are no longer valid and do not count towards the total amount needed to qualify as a petition candidate. (See above – Attention: Party Affiliation on page 9)

#### Example 5 – Valid Petition:

Candidate E circulates petitions for a nonpartisan office but is registered as a voter with party affiliation. As long as the petition indicates the candidate is running for a nonpartisan office, the petitions are valid. (See above – Attention: Party Affiliation on page 9)

#### Example 6 – Valid Petition:

Candidate F changes party affiliation on their voter registration record while running for a nonpartisan office. If the candidate is running for a nonpartisan office, changing their voter registration party affiliation will have no effect on previously verified petitions.

#### ... if a candidate puts their party affiliation on a petition for a nonpartisan office?

A candidate for a nonpartisan office must check the block that indicates "Nonpartisan" on the petition when collecting petitions for a nonpartisan office. While the candidate may be a member of a party and still run in a nonpartisan race, they must collect petitions as a nonpartisan candidate and indicate this on the petition. If a nonpartisan candidate indicates they are running as a party affiliated candidate, it will invalidate the petitions.

**Note:** If the petition indicates conflicting or incorrect information regarding the candidate's status as a nonpartisan, no party affiliated, or party affiliated candidate, the petition is invalid.

# ... if the petition is signed by a voter who is not registered in the geographical area represented at the time of signing or verification?

Rule <u>1S-2.045</u>, Florida Administrative Code, states a petition is invalid if the "petition is signed by a voter who is not a registered voter in the county, district, or other geographical area represented by the office sought unless otherwise specified in Sections <u>99.095</u> and <u>99.09651</u>, Florida Statutes, at both the time of signing and verification of the petition."

#### ... if the voter signs more than one petition for the same candidate?

Only one candidate petition per voter per candidate may be verified as valid. For example, if the first petition submitted by the voter is valid, it remains valid even if a second petition by the same voter is submitted-- the second petition may not be validated.

Under Section <u>104.185</u>, Florida Statutes, a person who <u>knowingly</u> signs a candidate petition more than one time for a candidate commits a misdemeanor of the first degree. A supervisor who believes the voter violated the above statute may file an elections fraud

complaint with the Division of Elections or refer the matter to the local state attorney.

Nothing in the Election Code prohibits a voter from signing petitions for more than one candidate (or different candidates) in the same race or election.

#### ... if the petition form is signed by an inactive voter?

A petition signed by an inactive voter is valid as long as it meets all other requirements set forth in Rule 1S-2.045(5)(f), Florida Administrative Code.

#### ... if the petition form is incomplete?

See Rule 15-2.045(5)(f) Florida Administrative Code, for details on what information <u>must</u> be on the petition.

#### ... if the petition is prefilled by the candidate?

The only entries that must be filled in by the voter are the signature and the date. Therefore, a candidate or petition gatherer is allowed to prefill all fields on the petition EXCEPT the signature and the date the voter signed the petition. The voter must sign and date the application.

# ... if the petition is dated after the date the candidate submits the petition to the supervisor?

Rule <u>1S-2.045</u>(5)(f), Florida Administrative Code, requires that the petition form contain "the date the voter signed the petition as recorded by the voter." If the date has not occurred, or occurred after the date the supervisor receives the petition, the voter obviously could not have signed the petition on that date, and it should not be counted as valid.

#### ... if the voter with a protected address signs the petition?

No special processes apply when voters with a protected address sign petition forms. Like any other voter, if the voter with a protected address wants to sign the petition, the voter may elect to place a business address or some other address. If the voter lists an address other than the legal residence where the voter is registered, the supervisor will process the petition as if the voter had listed the address where the voter is registered.

#### ... if the petition does not have a disclaimer?

A petition is not a political advertisement as defined in Section <u>106.011</u>, Florida Statutes, as it does not expressly advocate the election of a candidate. However, if a candidate petition is included as a part of a larger advertisement that does meet the definition of a political advertisement, the political advertisement would need a disclaimer. While a missing disclaimer on such advertisement does not invalidate an otherwise properly executed petition but it would constitute a violation of <u>Chapter 106</u>, Florida Statutes.

#### ... if the petition does not have the voter's original signature?

Rule <u>1S-2.045(5)(f)4</u>., Florida Administrative Code, provides that the Supervisor of Elections shall not verify a signature on a petition unless it contains the voter's original signature. Thus, copies of petitions, electronic submission (such as email), or petitions with electronic signatures are not valid.

... if a candidate is not registered to vote in the geographical area represented by the office sought?

The candidate's eligibility for office has no bearing on the validity of the petitions.

... if the petition contains a shortened version of a political party's name in the block that asks for the name of the political party?

If the supervisor can determine with certainty to which party the shortened version refers, the petition should be verified.

#### Example:

**Form <u>DS-DE 9</u>** indicates that the candidate is running as a Republican candidate. The petition has the acronym RPOF in the name of political party block. This would be acceptable as there is only one party commonly known as RPOF, i.e., Republican Party of Florida.

### **Chapter 5: Fees and Undue Burden Oath**

#### What is the verification fee?

There is a fee of 10 cents per signature or the actual cost of checking such signatures, whichever is less, to be paid to the Supervisor of Elections for the cost of verifying the signature. Petitions cannot be verified unless payment is made in advance or unless an undue burden oath is filed.

#### Who is responsible for the verification fee?

The law provides that a candidate must pay the verification fee. See section <u>99.097(4)</u>, Florida Statutes. The verification fee may be paid:

- With a campaign check or the campaign's petty cash.
- With the candidate's personal funds which must be then reported as an in-kind contribution or can be reimbursed by the campaign.
- By someone else who is then reimbursed by the campaign.

Ultimately, it is the candidate's responsibility to ensure that the person is reimbursed by the campaign.

#### What is an undue burden oath?

If a candidate cannot pay the signature verification fee without imposing an undue burden on the candidate's resources, the candidate may file an undue burden oath (*see* <u>Appendix F</u>). Candidates must file an undue burden oath with each Supervisor of Elections' office where petitions will be submitted. The undue burden oath filed in each county must be properly notarized. Note the following scenarios in which an undue burden oath may not be used or may be invalidated:

- If any person is paid to solicit signatures on a petition, a candidate may <u>not</u> subsequently file an undue burden oath.
- If an undue burden oath has been filed and payment is subsequently made to any person to solicit signatures on a petition, the oath is no longer valid and a fee for all signatures previously submitted to the Supervisor of Elections, and any that are

submitted thereafter, shall be paid by the candidate who submitted the oath.

• If a candidate receives monetary contributions, as defined in Section <u>106.011</u>, Florida Statutes, after the candidate has filed an undue burden oath and subsequently paid a signature gatherer, the monetary contributions must first be used to reimburse the Supervisor of Elections for any signature verifications fees that were not paid because of the filing of the oath.

## **Chapter 6: Certification to the Division of Elections**

#### Which candidate petitions must be certified to the State?

Supervisors of Elections must certify the number of verified petitions for the following offices to the Division of Elections:

- President of the United States
- U.S. Senate
- Representative in Congress
- Governor
- Attorney General
- Chief Financial Officer
- Commissioner of Agriculture
- State Senator
- State Representative
- Circuit Court Judge
- State Attorney
- Public Defender
- Multi-county Special District

#### Who determines whether the candidate's name is placed on the ballot?

After receipt of the certifications from the Supervisor of Elections, the Division of Elections will determine whether the required number of signatures has been obtained to place the candidate's name on the ballot. The Division will notify the candidate and the supervisor. (**NOTE**: This certification only excuses the candidate from paying the qualifying fee and any party assessment when seeking to qualify for this office. The certification does not excuse the candidate from submitting other qualifying papers required by the Florida Election Code.)

### How do I confirm the number of signatures certified to the Division of Elections?

To check the number of signatures certified to the Division of Elections, search for the candidate's name on the <u>Candidate Tracking System</u>.

Step 1: Select an **Election** and click **View List**.

Ithough federal candidates ceive contributions or make ched this threshold but have	are require e expenditure notified ti	ficial reference of candidates for federa ed to register with the Federal Election ures in excess of \$5000, federal candid he Division that they wish to have their	ates who name and
		for office are listed as a courtesy to the please contact your local <u>Supervisor of</u>	
24 Election	~	View List	
23 Special: House 24	~	View List	
	124 Election 123 Special: House 24	124 Election	124 Election View List 123 Special: House 24 View List

Step 2: Click on the candidate's name.

-								Change Elec
Group:	ALL			<ul> <li>Status:</li> </ul>	ALL (except	WIT/DN	Q) ¥	
Office:	State Re	presentative	Ý	County	ALL	~		
Last Na	me Like			Order b	y: Name	~		
			hich all or a portion of n on county or municipa					
			n on county or municipa	al candidates, plea	se contact you			
			n on county or municipa	al candidates, plea	se contact you			
Di	county		n on county or municipa	al candidates, plea	se contact you	r local <u>S</u>		of Elections.

Step 3: The **Petition Signatures** button will not appear at the bottom of the candidate's page if the Supervisor of Elections have not received or processed any petitions. If the **Petition Signatures** button appears at the bottom of the candidate's page, click **Petition Signatures**.

Candidate Tracking System				
2024 General Election State Representative District 1				
Johnny A. Doe Democrat				
Address Campaign Treasurer				
THE Data Stream Normal Annual Stream (Stream)				
Terres Springs, C. 2708 Terres Second Statements, R. 1001				
Phone:				
Status:Active				
Date Filed:12/01/2020				
Date Qualified: Method:Petition method				
Campaign Finance Activity				
Campaign Documents				
Petition Signatures				

Step 4: You will be able to see displayed the total required signatures, total verified, and the last date petitions were verified from a county to the Division of Elections.

Ca	Candidate's Petition Signatures					
	2024 General Election State Representative District 1					
	Johnny A. Doe Democrat					
Total Red	juired	Total Verified	ł			
599		800				
	_					
County	County Last Verified Date Total Verified Number					
Escambia	0	7/30/2021		200		
Okaloosa	Okaloosa 07/10/2021 600					

#### What do I do if I believe the totals are incorrect?

ContactimmediatelytheSupervisorofElections<a href="https://dos.myflorida.com/elections/contacts/supervisor-of-elections/">https://dos.myflorida.com/elections/contacts/supervisor-of-elections/</a> for the county in<br/>question.

# What is the deadline for Supervisor of Elections to certify signatures to the Division of Elections?

No later than 5:00 p.m. on:

- April 15, 2024 Representative in Congress, U.S. Senator, Circuit Court Judge, State Attorney (1<sup>st</sup> through 19<sup>th</sup> Judicial Circuits), and Public Defender (1<sup>st</sup> through 19<sup>th</sup> Judicial Circuit)
- June 3, 2024 State Senate, State Representative, and Multi-county Special District

On or before:

• August 20, 2024 – President of the United States

Certifications received from the Supervisor of Elections after the deadline will <u>not</u> be accepted.

# Appendix A

# 2024 Petition Signatures Required for Representatives in Congress:

	Signatures
District	Required
1	5,538
2	5,250
3	5,101
4	5,413
5	5,443
6	5,670
7	5,711
8	5,818
9	4,910
10	4,517
11	5,586
12	5,787
13	5,591
14	5,047
15	4,802
16	5,362
17	5,958
18	4,744
19	5,491
20	4,562
21	5,747
22	5,094
23	5,272
24	4,509
25	4,983
26	4,140
27	4,510
28	4,498

# Appendix B

District	Signatures Required
1	3,970
3	3,671
5	3,396
7	4,321
9	3,748
11	4,341
13	3,812
15	3,003
17	3,340
19	4,087
21	3,941
23	3,676
25	3,380
27	3,673
29	3,725
31	4,134
33	3,763
35	3,591
37	3,483
39	2,788

# 2024 Petition Signatures Required for State Senate:

# Appendix C

# 2024 Petition Signatures Required for State Representative:

District	Signatures Required
1	1,216
2	1,335
3	1,341
4	1,248
5	1,252
6	1,244
7	1,162
8	1,129
9	1,381
10	1,153
11	1,303
12	1,172
13	1,183
14	1,087
15	1,420
16	1,260
17	1,198
18	1,483
19	1,438
20	1,318
21	1,028
22	1,266
23	1,399
24	1,308
25	1,331
26	1,222
27	1,353
28	1,304
29	1,267
30	1,429
31	1,357
32	1,405

District	Signatures
District	Required
33	1,334
34	1,360
35	1,212
36	1,247
37	1,049
38	1,281
39	1,198
40	1,021
41	824
42	1,319
43	1,061
44	1,035
45	1,205
46	1,032
47	1,190
48	1,215
49	1,070
50	1,122
51	1,234
52	1,570
53	1,353
54	1,284
55	1,382
56	1,199
57	1,370
58	1,256
59	1,231
60	1,244
61	1,316
62	1,118
63	991
64	967

# 2024 Petition Signatures Required for State Representative:

	Signatures
District	Required
65	1,243
66	1,246
67	976
68	1,116
69	1,180
70	1,344
71	1,093
72	1,330
73	1,462
74	1,493
75	1,524
76	1,321
77	1,083
78	1,192
79	1,331
80	1,421
81	1,344
82	994
83	1,122
84	1,274
85	1,415
86	1,317
87	1,314
88	989
89	836
90	1,240
91	1,292
92	1,411

	Signatures
District	Required
93	1,252
94	1,279
95	1,208
96	1,174
97	1,045
98	1,043
99	1,166
100	1,349
101	1,080
102	1,303
103	1,259
104	1,092
105	1,116
106	1,072
107	1,058
108	1,025
109	956
110	1,005
111	947
112	854
113	895
114	1,090
115	1,213
116	1,076
117	964
118	1,171
119	1,151
120	1,030

# Appendix D

# 2024 Petition Signatures Required for Circuit Court Judge, State Attorney (1<sup>st</sup> through 19<sup>th</sup>) and Public Defender (1<sup>st</sup> through 19<sup>th</sup>):

Judicial Circuit	Signatures Required
1	5,746
2	2,797
3	1,197
4	8,952
5	9,360
6	11,078
7	7,822
8	2,672
9	11,252
10	5,464
11	15,295
12	6,524
13	9,249
14	1,993
15	10,037
16	552
17	12,528
18	8,020
19	5,000
20	9,512

# Appendix E: Form DS-DE 9 Appointment of Campaign Treasurer and Designation of Campaign Depository for Candidates

<ol> <li>13. City</li> <li>18. I have designate</li> <li>19. Name of Bank</li> <li>21. City</li> <li>UNDER PENALTIES OF</li> </ol>	ed the fol	22. County	y 	20.	16. Zip Code Primary Deposito Address 23. State		ndary Depository 24. Zip Coc	le
13. City 18. I have designate					Primary Deposito			4
13. City								
		11 County		Mada.	AC Zin Code	d7 Europile eleks	/	
11. Mailing Address			1			12. Te	elephone	
<ol> <li>I have appointed</li> <li>Name of Treasur</li> </ol>			as my		Campaign Trea	surer 🔲 De	eputy Treasurer	
8. If a candidate for		ty Affiliation	ock and f		ame of party as	ap <mark>plicable: </mark> My	intent is to run a Party candid	
6. Office sought (ind	ciude distr	rict, circuit, group nu	umber)		7. If a can applica	didate for a <u>nonp</u> ble: My intent is to ru		
4. Telephone ( )		E-mail address						
2. Name of Candida	<b>ate</b> (in this	order: First, Middle	, Last)		3. Address (inclue code)	le post office box	or street, city, sta	ate, zip
1. CHECK APPROP Initial Filing of I		DX(ES): Re-filing to Chan	ge: 🔲	Treas	urer/Deputy	Depository	Office	Party
NOTE: This form r officer before open			ualifying	Ľ			OFFICE L	JSE ONLY
(PLE	ASE PRIN	NT OR TYPE)						
	ORY FO	N OF CAMPAIG R CANDIDATES 021(1), F.S.)						

# Appendix F: DS-DE 19A Affidavit of Undue Burden – Candidate

MPORTANT- (4) 5	(Section 9	9.097(4), F	DUE BURDEN Iorida Statutes) le or invalidate the filing of an undue burden oath.
Section 99.097(6), I urden oath may no ian undue burden ignatures on a petio o the supervisor of hat submitted the ontributions must <u>f</u> ot paid because o ayment is made to 2) Upon a candid as surplus funds, i pplicable). See s.	Florida Statutes, provide of subsequently be filed oath has been filed and ition, the undue burden elections and any subr undue burden oath. I <u>irist</u> be used to reimburs of the filing of the undue of the filing of the undue of a signature gatherer at ate terminating the ca must first apply the surp 106.141(7), Florida Sta	es: (a) If any pers in lieu of paying t payment is subs oath is no longer nitted thereafter s if contributions as e the supervisor o e burden oath. [N fter an undue burd <b>mpaign</b> , any can plus funds to the re- stutes.	on is paid to solicit signatures on a petition, an undue he fee to have signatures verified for that petition. (b) equently made to any person to solicit valid and a fee for all signatures previously submitted hall be paid by the candidate, person, or organization a defined in s. 108.011 are received, any monetary f elections for any signature verification fees that were lote: The second sentence in (b) applies only when den oath had been filed.] didate who qualified by the petition process and who eimbursement of the signature verification fee (if
I certify under or	ath that I intend to qua	lify as a candidat	e for the office of
			and that I am unable to
now the fee for we	vification of patition cier	actures for that of	ice without imposing an undue burden on my
	es or on resources othe		
personal resource	es or on resources othe	rwise available to	me.
x			APLE
	re of Candidate		PLE Print Candidate's Name
	re of Candidate		Print Candidate's Name
	re of Candidate	Cit	
Signatu	re of Candidate	Cit	y
Signatu	re of Candidate	City	
Signatu	re of Candidate	(	y
Signatu Address		(	y )
Signatu Address	Zip	(	y )
Signatu Address State	Zip	(	)
Signatu Address State STATE OF FLOR	Zip	(	)
Signatu Address State STATE OF FLOF COUNTY OF	Zip	( Tel	ephone Number          Signature of Notary Public         Print, Type or Stamp Commissioned Name of         Notary Public below:
Signatu Signatu Address State STATE OF FLOF COUNTY OF Sworn to (or affin	Zip	( Tel	ephone Number          Signature of Notary Public         Print, Type or Stamp Commissioned Name of         Notary Public below:
Signatu Address State STATE OF FLOF COUNTY OF Sworn to (or affin online notarizatio	Zip RIDA med) and subscribed be	( Tel efore me by mean ence □	ephone Number          Signature of Notary Public         Print, Type or Stamp Commissioned Name of         Notary Public below:         s of
Signatu Address State STATE OF FLOR COUNTY OF Sworn to (or affin online notarizatio this day	Zip RIDA med) and subscribed be n  _ OR physical prese	( Tel efore me by mean ence 20	ephone Number          Signature of Notary Public         Print, Type or Stamp Commissioned Name of         Notary Public below:         s of
Signatu Address State STATE OF FLOF COUNTY OF Sworn to (or affin online notarizatio this day Personally Known	Zip RIDA med) and subscribed be n	( Tel efore me by mean ence 20 ntification 	ephone Number          Signature of Notary Public         Print, Type or Stamp Commissioned Name of         Notary Public below:         s of
Signatu Address State STATE OF FLOF COUNTY OF Sworn to (or affin online notarizatio this day Personally Known	Zip RIDA n	( Tel efore me by mean ence 20 ntification 	ephone Number          Signature of Notary Public         Print, Type or Stamp Commissioned Name of         Notary Public below:         s of
Signatu Signatu Address State STATE OF FLOF COUNTY OF Sworn to (or affin online notarizatio this day Personally Known	Zip RIDA n	( Tel efore me by mean ence 20 ntification 	ephone Number          Signature of Notary Public         Print, Type or Stamp Commissioned Name of         Notary Public below:         s of

# Appendix G: DS-DE 104 Candidate Petition Form

<b>CANDIDATE PETITION</b> Notes: - All information on this form becomes a public record upon receipt by the Supervisor of Elections. - It is a crime to knowingly sign more than one petition for a candidate. [Section 104.185, Florida Statutes] - If all requested information on this form is not completed, the form will not be valid as a Candidate Petition form.	
I, the undersigned, a registered vote	r
(print name as it appears on your voter information card)	
in said state and county, petition to have the name of	
placed on the Primary/General Election Ballot as a: [check/complete box, as applicable]	_
Nonpartisan No party affiliation (insert the office and include district, circuit, group, seat number, if applicable) Date of Birth or Voter Registration Number Address	f
City County State Zip Code	
Signature of Voter       Date Signed (MM/DD/YY)         [to be completed by Voter]         Rule 1S-2.045, F.A.C.         DS-DE 104 (Eff. 0)	

Appendix H: DS-DE 18A President and Vice President Candidate Petition, No Party Affiliation and DS-DE 18B President and Vice President Candidate Petition, Minor Political Party

PRESIDENT & VICE PRESIDENT CANDIDATE PETITIO Notes: - All information on this form becomes a public record upon receipt by the Superv - It is a crime to knowingly sign more than one petition for a candidate. [Section - If all requested information on this form is not completed, the form will not be va	isor of Elections. 104.185, Florida Statutes]
I,	the undersigned, a registered voter
(print name as it appears on your voter information card)	
in said state and county, petition to have the name of	
for President and	for Vice President placed on the
Seneral Election Ballottor the presidential election occurring in the set year	t <u>y affiliatio<del>n canci</del></u> dates.
Date of Birth or Voter Registration Number (MM/DD/YY) Address	
City County St	ate Zip Code
Signature of Voter	Date Signed (MM/DD/YY) [to be completed by voter]
Rule 15-2.045, F.A.C.	DS-DE 18A (Eff. 09/11)

PRESIDENT AND VICE PRESIDENT CANDIDATE PETITION - M Notes: - All information on this form becomes a public record upon receipt by the Supervisor of - It is a crime to knowingly sign more than one petition for a candidate. [Section 104.185 - If all requested information on this form is not completed, the form will not be valid as a	Elections. 5, Florida Statutes]
l	the undersigned, a registered voter
(print name as it appears on your voter information card)	-
in said state and county, petition to have the candidates for President and Vice President nominate	led by
(insert name of minor political party) placed on the General Election ballot for the presidential election occuring in (insert year) Date of Birth or Voter Registration Number (MM/DD/YY)	
City County State	Zip Code
	Date Signed (MM/DD/YY) [to be completed by voter]
Rule 15-2.045, F.A.C.	DS-DE 18B (Eff. 09/11)

# **Appendix I: Legal References and Rules Cited**

#### **Florida Statutes**

- <u>99.095</u> Petition process in lieu of a qualifying fee and party assessment.
- <u>99.09651</u> Signature requirements for ballot position in year of apportionment.
- <u>99.097</u> Verification of signatures on petitions.
- <u>100.371</u> Initiatives; procedure for placement on ballot.
- <u>104.31</u> Political activities of state, county, and municipal officers and employees.
- <u>104.185</u> Petitions; knowingly signing more than once; signing another person's name or a fictitious name.
- <u>106.011</u> Definitions.
- <u>106.15</u> Certain acts prohibited.
- <u>103.021</u> Nomination for Presidential Electors

#### **Florida Election Code**

• <u>Chapters 97 – 106, Florida Statutes</u>

#### Florida Administrative Code

• <u>Rule 1S-2.045</u> Candidate Petition Process

#### Forms

- <u>DS-DE 9</u> Appointment of Campaign Treasurer and Designation of Campaign Depository for Candidates
- DS-DE 18A President and Vice President Candidate Petition, No Party Affiliation
- DS-DE 18B President and Vice President Candidate Petition, Minor Political Party
- <u>DS-DE 19A</u> Affidavit of Undue Burden Candidate
- <u>DS-DE 104</u> Candidate Petition Form

### **Candidate Tracking System – Division of Elections**

• <u>dos.elections.myflorida.com/candidates</u>